

REVIEW

Improving mucociliary clearance in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Angshu Bhowmik^a, Kamaljeet Chahal^b, Gillian Austin^b, Indranil Chakravorty^{b,c,*}

^a Department of Respiratory Medicine, Homerton University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, Homerton Row, London, UK

^b Department of Respiratory Medicine, Lister Hospital, Stevenage, Herts UK

^c Beds & Herts Postgraduate Medical School, University of Hertfordshire, Hatfield, UK

Received 29 April 2008; accepted 16 October 2008 Available online 16 December 2008

KEYWORDS COPD; High frequency chest wall oscillation; Physiotherapy; Exacerbations

Summary

Patients with COPD usually experience mucus hypersecretion as a result of airway inflammation and response to noxious stimuli. These in turn lead to worsening airway resistance, impaired airflow, increased work of breathing, dyspnoea and exercise intolerance. Mucus hypersecretion may also lead to increased exacerbations and poor health related quality of life (HRQL). Institution based pulmonary rehabilitation programs incorporating airway clearance techniques have been shown to improve HRQL, reduce dyspnoea and improve exercise tolerance but are often difficult to provide due to restricted accessibility and resource implications. This review examines the current evidence base and best clinical practice in the area of airway clearance. Mechanical devices such as the flutter valves, positive end expiratory pressure and high frequency chest wall oscillation (HFCWO) may be able to provide the benefits of improved airway clearance in the patient's home potentially with reduced demands on healthcare resources.

© 2008 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

E-mail address: i.chakravorty@herts.ac.uk (I. Chakravorty).

0954-6111/\$ - see front matter \circledast 2008 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.rmed.2008.10.014

^{*} Corresponding author. Lister Hospital (L118), Coreys Mill Lane, Stevenage, Herts SG1 4AB, UK. Tel.: +44 1438781220; fax: +44 1438781199.

Contents

Introduction	497
Pathophysiology	497
Mechanisms of airway mucus production	497
Methods of clearance of airway mucus	497
Effects of mucus hypersecretion and retention	497
Therapeutic approaches to airway mucus hypersecretion and retention	498
Non-pharmacological	498
Air humidification	498
Exercise	498
Conventional chest physiotherapy (CCPT)	499
ACBT	499
Autogenic drainage	499
Resistive inspiratory manoeuvres (RIM)	499
Flutter	499
Positive expiratory pressure (PEP)	499
HFCWO	499
Pharmacological	500
Hypertonic saline	500
Mannitol	500
Amiloride	500
Mucolytics	500
Conclusions	500
Financial and conflict of interest statement	501
Originality and relevance statement	501
References	501

Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is characterized by chronic obstruction of expiratory flow affecting peripheral airways, associated with chronic bronchitis (mucus hypersecretion with goblet cell and submucosal gland hyperplasia) and emphysema (destruction of pulmonary parenchyma), together with fibrosis and tissue damage, and inflammation of the small airways.¹ In 1959, Fletcher hypothesized that recurrent respiratory infections might lead to chronic bronchitis and the chronic mucus production caused by this might lead to chronic airway obstruction. When this hypothesis was tested, a causal relationship between respiratory infections and sputum production was not found and it was concluded that smoking caused both chronic bronchitis and COPD, but the two did not have a causal relationship.² However, more recent study has demonstrated that among smokers chronic sputum production³ and increased airway bacterial counts may be associated with a more rapid decline in lung function.4,5

Pathophysiology

Mechanisms of airway mucus production

Cigarette smoke results in increased numbers of goblet cells in the small airways.⁶ A wide variety of stimuli (e.g., bacteria, viruses, allergens, cigarette smoke, foreign

bodies, reactive oxygen species, various cytokines, and activated leukocytes) cause goblet cell precursors to differentiate into mucin-producing goblet cells via activation of an epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) cascade.⁷ Neutrophil elastase and cell surface adhesion molecules have been implicated in the process by which neutrophils stimulate the production of mucus from goblet cells.⁸

Methods of clearance of airway mucus

Airway secretions are cleared by mucociliary clearance (MCC), in addition to other mechanisms such as cough, peristalsis, two-phase gas—liquid flow and alveolar clearance. MCC comprises the cephalad movement of mucus caused by the cilia lining the conducting airways which is determined by the structure, number, movement and coordination as well as the amount, composition and rheological properties of the periciliary and mucus layers.⁹ MCC is a vital mechanism of lung defence, enabling efficient clearance of inhaled particles, including microorganisms, from the respiratory tract.^{10,11} Inherited defects in ciliary motility as well as the effects of neutrophil products may impair ciliary beating Table 1.¹²

Effects of mucus hypersecretion and retention

Chronic mucus hypersecretion is significantly and consistently associated with both an excess FEV_1 decline and an

Modalities	Agents	Mechanisms
Mucolytics	Carbocisteine	Breaking down mucus strands and increased fluidity;
	Erdosteine	destabilization of chemical structure of disulfide bonds;
	N acetyl cysteine	hydrolysation of DNA molecules and DNA length
	DNase	
	Gelsolin	
	Dextran	
	LMW heparin	
Expectorants	Guaifenesin	Clearance of large airways, unlikely to be of any clinical benefit
Mucoactive	Bronchodilators	Increased mucus clearance through improved
		ciliary movement, reducing airway obstruction
Mucus reduction	Erdosteine	Reducing inflammation and mucus production
	Anticholinergics	
	Indomethacin (NSAIDs)	
	Corticosteroids	
	Macrolide antibiotics	
Non-specific	Airway humidification	Increasing airway humidity and water content of mucus; unlikely to be of any clinical benefit
	Aerobic exercise	Shear stress improves mucus mobility and opening of smaller airways; unlikely to be of any clinical benefit
	Conventional chest physiotherapy	Percussion and shear stresses with aids to mobilization
Mucociliary	Chest physiotherapy	Effective clearance of smaller, peripheral airways
clearance	(autogenic drainage,	
	active cycle breathing)	
	Resistive measures	
	Flutter valve	
	Positive end expiratory pressure	
	High frequency chest wall oscillation	
Osmolar agents	Mannitol	Increasing mucosal water content, reducing viscosity
	Amiloride	5 ····· 5 ····· 5 ····· 5 ····· 5 ····· 5 ····· 5 ····· 5 ····· 5 ····· 5 ····· 5 ····· 5 ····· 5 ······
	Hypertonic saline	

Table 1Modalities and mechanisms of mucociliary clearance.

increased risk of subsequent hospitalization because of COPD.³ Excess mucus in the airways causes severe cough and discomfort, and can lead to further obstruction and inflammation.⁸ Hogg et al. reported that the increase in peripheral airway wall thickness and volume of inflammatory cells in the mucous exudate were directly predictive of the stage of advancement of COPD, based on a study of surgically resected lung tissue.¹³ The airways of patients with COPD are often found to be colonized by bacteria, and it is now recognized that higher airway bacterial loads are associated with increased airway inflammation¹⁴ more frequent exacerbation¹⁵ and faster lung function decline¹⁶ in smokers.¹⁷ In addition, severe airflow limitation is associated with an increased number of neutrophils, macrophages, NK lymphocytes, and MIP-1 α + epithelial cells in the bronchial mucosa.¹⁸ Airway infections and ciliary dysfunction can lead to impaired mucus transport and can thereby increase the retention of particles, including microorgan-isms in the airways.^{19,20} Hence techniques of efficient clearance of peripheral airways may reduce airway occlusion by excess mucus and inflammatory cells, improving lung function, exercise capacity and reducing exacerbation frequency.

Therapeutic approaches to airway mucus hypersecretion and retention

Non-pharmacological

Air humidification

Although cold air and mist humidification are commonly used, they have been shown not to be useful in achieving adequate air humidification nor in aiding sputum clearance. There is, in fact, a higher risk of bacterial infection with mist humidification systems.²¹ Warm air humidification may help in intubated patients but does not help to improve airway clearance in non-intubated adults.²²

Exercise

Aerobic exercise leads to more rapid and deep breathing leading to shearing force along the airway walls hence improving clearance of secretions but although exercise may improve functional capacity, it has not been shown to be a replacement for physiotherapy in adequate airway clearance in cystic fibrosis (CF).²³

Conventional chest physiotherapy (CCPT)

Although CCPT is still considered the gold standard of treatment in clinical practice, a Cochrane review in 2000 concluded that the evidence for this was not robust.²⁴ This is possibly due to a lack of appropriate trials rather than any evidence of lack of benefit. A systematic review carried out in 2004 to look at airway clearance techniques in all disorders of airway clearance to produce American College of Chest Physicians (ACCP) guidelines, found that although some techniques improved sputum expectoration, there was no high quality evidence for long term outcomes with these techniques.²⁵ They recommended the use of CCPT in CF but noted that manually assisted cough might be detrimental in COPD and recommended that this technique not be used in these patients. CCPT requires active intervention from a trained assistant or therapist.

ACBT

The active cycle breathing technique (ACBT) is a cycle of breathing control, thoracic expansion exercises and forced expiration techniques (one or two huffs combined with periods of breathing control). Huffing to low lung volumes helps to clear the secretions from peripheral airways and when they reach the more proximal airways, a huff or cough from a high lung volume can be used to clear them.²⁶ This technique has been recommended for both CF and COPD in the ACCP guidelines for airway clearance therapies.²⁵ Various other techniques have been used as adjuncts to ''standard'' physiotherapy for patients with CF. Forced expiration²⁷ and inspiration against resistance have demonstrated better sputum expectoration than standard therapy.²⁸

Autogenic drainage

Autogenic drainage is the use of exhalation at different lung volumes – from low lung volume to high lung volume – to gradually mobilize the airway secretions from the peripheral to the proximal airways. It has been shown to have at least equal efficacy to ACBT in a cohort of 30 patients with COPD.²⁹

Resistive inspiratory manoeuvres (RIM)

Inspiration against a fixed inspiratory resistance is thought to improve sputum clearance. RIM was shown in CF to improve sputum expectoration compared to standard physiotherapy alone.²⁸ There are no studies looking at this technique in COPD.

Flutter

This is a pipe-shaped device with a high density stainless steel ball-bearing enclosed in a cone in the bowl of the "pipe". During expiration through the flutter device, the rise and fall of the ball and its movement along the surface of the cone creates a positive expiratory pressure and oscillatory vibration of the air within the airways. This phenomenon helps to loosen secretions, which are mobilized to the central airways and cleared by deep exhalations through the device with the aid of subsequent coughing and/or huffing. It has been shown that oral high frequency oscillation improves mucociliary clearance in normal individuals.³⁰ A flutter device was compared to standard chest physiotherapy in CF patients and found to

be equivalent in its effects on spirometry, 6 min walk distance and oxygen saturations.³¹ However, another study using the VRP1 flutter device, was found to be less efficient than ACB techniques at clearing the airway and concerns were raised about sputum retention with this device.³² There is little evidence for improved airway clearance with the flutter device in patients with COPD, but one study of 23 patients with COPD found that the bronchodilator response to salbutamol and ipratropium was improved after the use of a flutter device.³³

Positive expiratory pressure (PEP)

The PEP device consists of a face mask or mouthpiece and a one-way valve to which expiratory resistors can be attached. A manometer is inserted into the system between the valve and the resistance to monitor the pressure. This should be $10-20 \text{ cmH}_20$ at mid-expiration. Tidal breathing, with a slightly active expiration, is used and the lung volume is retained at a higher level than the usual residual volume by avoiding complete expiration.²⁶ A Cochrane review of the use of PEP devices for CF patients concluded that there was no objective evidence that PEP devices were either better or worse than other airway clearance techniques. Some patients reported a preference for PEP over standard therapy, but these studies were not of very high quality.³⁴ The ACCP guidelines²⁵ have recommended the use of PEP in CF because it is approximately as effective as CCPT, is safe and can be self-administered. However, there is no evidence available on the use of PEP to aid sputum expectoration in COPD.

HFCWO

High frequency chest wall oscillation devices allow positive pressure air pulses to be applied to the chest wall, for example by means of an inflatable vest. It was hypothesized that chest wall oscillation might increase the expiratory flow bias and this would lead to increased mucus clearance.³⁵ Chest wall oscillation at 13 Hz using an inflatable cuff around the lower thorax was demonstrated in early canine studies to improve tracheal mucus clearance more effectively than in the control group or in subjects given high frequency oscillation at the airway opening.^{36,37} Following this, it was recognized that the use of a mechanical chest wall oscillatory device might be more convenient for patients as they would be able to perform their airway secretion clearance manoeuvers at home and this would in turn improve compliance and efficacy.³⁸ Most studies of HFCWO have been performed in patients with cystic fibrosis (CF). Darbee et al. used a protocol using a chest wall oscillation frequency of 10 Hz for 15 min and 15 Hz for another 15 min as six cycles of 5 min of treatment followed by expiratory and expectoration manoeuvres. This was compared to positive expiratory pressure (PEP) breathing at 10-20 cmH₂O. Nebulized salbutamol and normal saline were administered in both arms. FEV1 and FVC improved with both treatments. Ventilation was more uniformly distributed throughout the lungs and inspired gases were better mixed with existing pulmonary gases after both treatments. However, the oxygen saturation fell slightly lower during treatment with HFCWO.³⁹ Perry et al. showed that the addition of PEEP to HFCWO at 10 Hz with a mean chest wall pressure of 16 cm of water increased end

expiratory lung volume and mean oscillatory flow rates during inspiration and expiration in patients with COPD. They therefore suggest that PEEP should be used in conjunction with HFCWO to maximize the sputum clearance obtainable with this technique.⁴⁰ HFCWO has been used in other disease conditions to attempt the improvement of clearance of airway secretions. Chaisson et al. found no benefit in FVC, oxygenation or adverse events with HFCWO in addition to BIPAP compared with BIPAP alone with standard therapy in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, but there were only nine subjects.⁴¹ An instrument to measure satisfaction levels and patient rated efficacy levels was validated by Oermann et al. This showed that conventional physiotherapy techniques (postural drainage, percussion and vibration) seemed to be considered by patients with cystic fibrosis to be less efficacious than HFCWO and less comfortable or convenient than flutter devices. They also observed that greater satisfaction was associated with greater compliance with therapy.⁴² There are no satisfactory studies to demonstrate the effect of HFCWO on exacerbations and guality of life in patients with COPD.

Pharmacological

Reduced airway surface liquid volume has been shown to be an important predictor of mucosal stasis and hence efficiency of mucociliary clearance. Studies in CF patients have demonstrated clearly the disease progression when this is impaired severely due to impaired CF transmembrane regulator (CFTR) gene expression. Recent studies from patients with COPD and asthma have shown that airway surface liquid volume homeostasis is linked to activation of adenosine receptor (A2B).43 Therapeutic strategies that increase airway surface liquid content through osmosis may improve hydration and hence efficiency of mucociliary clearance. The mucus factors that favour mucociliary transport (e.g., thin mucus gel layer, "ideal" sol depth, and elasticity greater than viscosity) are opposite to those that favour cough effectiveness (thick mucus layer, excessive sol height, and viscosity greater than elasticity), which indicates that different mucoactive drugs are likely to be required for treatment of mucus obstruction in proximal versus distal airways, or in patients with an impaired cough reflex.44

Hypertonic saline

A significant inhibition of luminal sodium conductance has been shown as a result of high luminal sodium concentrations. This mechanism may be involved in the regulation of fluid transport across the respiratory epithelium and in the improvement of mucociliary clearance with inhalation of hypertonic saline.⁴⁵ Of the various agents that are currently in favour, hypertonic saline has probably the maximum interest amongst researchers in COPD (with mucus hypersecretion). Saline (1.21 M) was used in 1978 to demonstrate more rapid clearance of secretions in patients with COPD.⁴⁶ Hypertonic saline has been demonstrated to improve sputum expectoration in CF in a dose dependent way, improving with increasing concentrations of saline within a range of 0.9-12%.⁴⁷ Daviskas et al. demonstrated increased mucociliary clearance in asthmatics and normal controls using 14.4% hypertonic saline, but there was a fall in FEV₁ of 22% in the asthmatic group.⁴⁸ However, the technique of sputum induction using 3% saline has been shown to be safe in patients with COPD suggesting that lower concentrations of saline may have a role in improving mucociliary clearance in these patients.⁴⁹

Mannitol

As mannitol is thought to have a similar osmotic effect to hypertonic saline, inhalation of dry powder mannitol via an inhaler has been used to improve sputum expectoration in asthmatics as well as healthy volunteers.⁵⁰ Similar results were obtained in bronchiectasis.⁵¹ But again, there was a significant fall in FEV₁ in the asthmatic patients of $22 \pm 3\%$ raising the possibility of similar falls in COPD, which might be unsafe.

Amiloride

Amiloride has been shown to improve sputum clearance, but is not currently recommended for clinical use. 52

Mucolytics

While an early study of S-carboxymethylcysteine in patients with chronic bronchitis found no benefit on sputum expectoration,⁵³ subsequent work has demonstrated reduced sputum viscosity and increased mucociliary transport after a short treatment.⁵⁴ A recent study in Chinese patients with COPD showed a reduction in frequency of exacerbations in patients treated with Carbocysteine.55 Erdosteine has been found in animal studies to have several possible mechanisms of action as an expectorant.⁵⁶ It has been shown to improve sputum clearance in elderly patients with bronchiectasis and chronic mucus hypersecretion.⁵⁷ A study of 8 months of daily erdosteine improved exacerbation and hospitalization rates and quality of life scores.⁵⁸ Overall, mucolytics have been shown to slightly reduce the frequency of exacerbations and the total number of days of disability.⁵⁹ Although these drugs fell out of favour in the UK for many years, the NICE guidelines for the management of COPD have recommended their use in selected patients.60

Conclusions

Many techniques have been used to aid sputum expectoration and improve mucociliary clearance in patients with a variety of chronic mucus hypersecretory conditions. The majority of literature deals with cystic fibrosis. Novel therapies in development are targeted at correcting the ion transport deficiency of CF. The goal is to hydrate airway surfaces by stimulating secretion (through activation of the CFTR and calcium-activated chloride channels),⁶¹ and/or inhibiting absorption (through the epithelial sodium channel)⁶² thereby stimulating healthy mucociliary clearance.⁶³

However, these novel techniques are likely to take sometime before reaching the realms of clinical practice. As of now there is only limited evidence to show that some of the techniques described have been used with benefit in patients with COPD. Further study is required in this group of patients as the number of people suffering from COPD is enormous and exacerbations of COPD consume a large portion of healthcare resources. We propose that HFCWO is a technique of self-managed efficient clearance of peripheral airways that should be studied in patients with COPD because there is some good evidence showing its benefits in airway clearance in cystic fibrosis and compared with other approaches such as hypertonic saline, erdosteine and NAC. This is important as many patients with COPD have restricted mobility and may find it difficult to attend physiotherapy sessions on a regular basis.

Financial and conflict of interest statement

GA and KC have conducted a pilot study of HFCWO devices in COPD patients sponsored by Electromed Inc. USA in 2007, under IC as Principal Investigator. The project was funded to 16,000 GBP but no personal payments were received.

Originality and relevance statement

This article brings together the latest research and expert opinion in the emerging impact of physiotherapy techniques using adjuncts, which add the ability of selfmanagement and empowerment to patients with COPD. The role of techniques employing flutter valves and high frequency chest wall oscillation to traditional chest physiotherapy is discussed and evidence reviewed.

References

- 1. Chung KF. Cytokines in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Eur Respir J* 2001;**18**:505–95.
- 2. Fletcher CM. Chronic bronchitis. Its prevalence, nature, and pathogenesis. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1959;**80**:483–94.
- Vestbo J, Prescott E, Lange P. Association of chronic mucus hypersecretion with FEV₁ decline and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease morbidity. Copenhagen City Heart Study Group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996;53:1530–5.
- Wilkinson TMA, Patel IS, Wilks M, et al. Airway bacterial load and FEV₁ decline in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2003;167: 1090–5.
- Anthonisen NR. The British hypothesis revisited. Eur Respir J 2004;23:657–8.
- Saetta M, Turato G, Baraldo S, et al. Goblet cell hyperplasia and epithelial inflammation in peripheral airways of smokers with both symptoms of chronic bronchitis and chronic airflow limitation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000;161:1016–21.
- Takeyama K, Dabbagh K, Lee HM, et al. Epidermal growth factor system regulates mucin production in airways. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999;96:3081–6.
- Nadel JA. Role of neutrophil elastase in hypersecretion during COPD exacerbations, and proposed therapies. *Chest* 2000;117: 3865–95.
- Houtmeyers E, Gosselink R, Gayan-Ramirez G, et al. Regulation of mucociliary clearance in health and disease. *Eur Respir J* 1999;13:1177–88.
- Wanner A, Salathe M, O'Riordan TG. Mucociliary clearance in the airways. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996;154:1868–902.
- Knowles MR, Boucher RC. Mucus clearance as a primary innate defense mechanism for mammalian airways. J Clin Invest 2002; 109:571–7.
- Kim S, Shao MXG, Nadel JA. 2005 Mucus Production, Secretion, and Clearance. In: Mason RJ, Broaddus VC, Murray JF,

- Hogg JC, Chu F, Utokaparch S, et al. The nature of small-airway obstruction in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med 2004;350(26):2645-53.
- 14. Hill AT, Campbell EJ, Hill SL, et al. Association between airway bacterial load and markers of airway inflammation in patients with stable chronic bronchitis. *Am J Med* 2000;**109**:288–95.
- 15. Patel IS, Seemungal TA, Wilks M, et al. Relationship between bacterial colonisation and the frequency, character, and severity of COPD exacerbations. *Thorax* 2002;**57**:759–64.
- 16. Donaldson GC, Seemungal TA, Patel IS, et al. Airway and systemic inflammation and decline in lung function in patients with COPD. *Chest* 2005;**128**:1995–2004.
- Anthonisen NR, Connett JE, Kiley JP, et al. Effects of smoking intervention and the use of an inhaled anticholinergic bronchodilator on the rate of decline of FEV₁. The Lung Health Study. JAMA 1994;272:1497–505.
- Di Stefano A, Capelli A, Lusuardi M, et al. Severity of airflow limitation is associated with severity of airway inflammation in smokers. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1998;158:1277–85.
- Camner P, Mossberg B, Afzelius BA. Measurements of tracheobronchial clearance in patients with immotile-cilia syndrome and its value in differential diagnosis. *Eur J Respir Dis Suppl* 1983;127:57–63.
- 20. Quinton PM. Cystic fibrosis: a disease in electrolyte transport. FASEB J 1990;4:2709–17.
- Graff TD. Humidification: indications and hazards in respiratory therapy. *Anesth Analg* 1975;54:444-8.
- Hough A. Physiotherapy to clear secretions. Physiotherapy in respiratory care – an evidence-based approach to respiratory and cardiac management. 3rd ed. Nelson Thornes; 2001, p. 184–210.
- 23. Salh W, Bilton D, Dodd M, et al. Effect of exercise and physiotherapy in aiding sputum expectoration in adults with cystic fibrosis. *Thorax* 1989;44:1006–8.
- 24. van der Schans C, Prasad A, Main E. Chest physiotherapy compared to no chest physiotherapy for cystic fibrosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*; 2000:CD001401.
- McCool FD, Rosen MJ. Nonpharmacologic airway clearance therapies: ACCP evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. *Chest* 2006;**129**:250S-9S.
- 26. Pryor J. Physiotherapy for airway clearance in adults. *Eur Respir J* 1999;14:1418–24.
- 27. Pryor JA, Webber BA, Hodson ME, et al. Evaluation of the forced expiration technique as an adjunct to postural drainage in treatment of cystic fibrosis. *BMJ* 1979;2:417–8.
- Chatham K, Ionescu AA, Nixon LS, Shale DJ. A short-term comparison of two methods of sputum expectoration in cystic fibrosis. *Eur Respir J* 2004;23:435–9.
- Savci S, Ince DI, Arikan H. A comparison of autogenic drainage and the active cycle of breathing techniques in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases. J Cardiopulm Rehabil 2000;20:37–43.
- George R, Johnson M, Pavia D, et al. Increase in mucociliary clearance in normal man induced by oral high frequency oscillation. *Thorax* 1985;40:433–7.
- Gondor M, Nixon PA, Mutich R, et al. Comparison of flutter device and chest physical therapy in the treatment of cystic fibrosis pulmonary exacerbation. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 1999;28: 255-60.
- Pryor JA, Webber BA, Hodson ME, et al. The Flutter VRP1 as an adjunct to chest physiotherapy in cystic fibrosis. *Respir Med* 1994;88:677-81.
- 33. Wolkove N, Kamel H, Rotaple M, et al. Use of a mucus clearance device enhances the bronchodilator response in patients with stable COPD. *Chest* 2002;**121**:702–7.

- 34. Elkins MR, Jones A, van der Schans C. Positive expiratory pressure physiotherapy for airway clearance in people with cystic fibrosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*; 2006:CD003147.
- Chang HK, Weber ME, King M. Mucus transport by highfrequency nonsymmetrical oscillatory airflow. J Appl Physiol 1988;65:1203-9.
- King M, Phillips DM, Gross D, et al. Enhanced tracheal mucus clearance with high frequency chest wall compression. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1983;128:511-5.
- King M, Phillips DM, Zidulka A, et al. Tracheal mucus clearance in high-frequency oscillation. II: Chest wall versus mouth oscillation. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1984;130:703-6.
- Goodwin MJ. Mechanical chest stimulation as a physiotherapy aid. *Med Eng Phys* 1994;16:267-72.
- Darbee JC, Kanga JF, Ohtake PJ. Physiologic evidence for highfrequency chest wall oscillation and positive expiratory pressure breathing in hospitalized subjects with cystic fibrosis. *Phys Ther* 2005;85:1278–89.
- Perry RJ, Man GC, Jones RL. Effects of positive end-expiratory pressure on oscillated flow rate during high-frequency chest compression. *Chest* 1998;113:1028–33.
- 41. Chaisson KM, Walsh S, Simmons Z, et al. A clinical pilot study: high frequency chest wall oscillation airway clearance in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler* 2006;**7**:107–11.
- Oermann CM, Swank PR, Sockrider MM. Validation of an instrument measuring patient satisfaction with chest physiotherapy techniques in cystic fibrosis. *Chest* 2000;118:92–7.
- Rollins BM, et al. A2B adenosine receptors regulate the mucus clearance component of the lung's innate defense system. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2008;39(2):190–7.
- Rogers DF. Mucoactive agents for airway mucus hypersecretory diseases. *Respir Care* 2007;52(9):1176–93. discussion 1193–7.
- Hebestreit A, Kersting U, Hebestreit H. Hypertonic saline inhibits luminal sodium channels in respiratory epithelium. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 2007;100(2):177–83.
- Pavia D, Thomson ML, Clarke SW. Enhanced clearance of secretions from the human lung after the administration of hypertonic saline aerosol. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1978;117: 199–203.
- Robinson M, Hemming A, Regnis J, et al. Effect of increasing doses of hypertonic saline on mucociliary clearance in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Thorax* 1997;52:900–3.
- Daviskas E, Anderson SD, Gonda I, et al. Inhalation of hypertonic saline aerosol enhances mucociliary clearance in asthmatic and healthy subjects. *Eur Respir J* 1996;9:725–32.
- 49. Bhowmik A, Seemungal TA, Sapsford RJ, et al. Comparison of spontaneous and induced sputum for investigation of airway

inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Thorax* 1998;**53**:953–6.

- Daviskas E, Anderson SD, Brannan JD, et al. Inhalation of drypowder mannitol increases mucociliary clearance. *Eur Respir J* 1997;10:2449–54.
- Daviskas E, Anderson SD, Eberl S, et al. Inhalation of dry powder mannitol improves clearance of mucus in patients with bronchiectasis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999;159:1843–8.
- Sood N, Bennett WD, Zeman K, et al. Increasing concentration of inhaled saline with or without amiloride: effect on mucociliary clearance in normal subjects. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2003;167:158–63.
- 53. Thomson ML, Pavia D, Jones CJ, et al. No demonstrable effect of S-carboxymethylcysteine on clearance of secretions from the human lung. *Thorax* 1975;30:669–73.
- Braga PC, Allegra L, Rampoldi C, et al. Long-lasting effects on rheology and clearance of bronchial mucus after short-term administration of high doses of carbocysteine-lysine to patients with chronic bronchitis. *Respiration* 1990;57:353–8.
- Zheng JP, et al. Effect of carbocisteine on acute exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (PEACE Study): a randomised placebo-controlled study. *Lancet* 2008; 371(9629):2013-8.
- Hosoe H, Kaise T, Ohmori K, et al. Mucolytic and antitussive effects of erdosteine. J Pharm Pharmacol 1999;51:959–66.
- 57. Crisafulli E, Coletti O, Costi S, et al. Effectiveness of erdosteine in elderly patients with bronchiectasis and hypersecretion: a 15-day, prospective, parallel, open-label, pilot study. *Clin Ther* 2007;**29**:2001–9.
- Moretti M, Bottrighi P, Dallari R, et al. The effect of long-term treatment with erdosteine on chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: the EQUALIFE Study. Drugs Exp Clin Res 2004; 30:143–52.
- 59. Poole PJ, Black PN. Mucolytic agents for chronic bronchitis or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*; 2003:CD001287.
- 60. Halpin D. NICE guidance for COPD. Thorax 2004;59:181-2.
- Kellerman D, et al. Denufosol: a review of studies with inhaled P2Y(2) agonists that led to Phase 3. *Pulm Pharmacol Ther* 2008; 21(4):600-7.
- 62. Hirsh AJ, et al. Pharmacological properties of *N*-(3,5-diamino-6-chloropyrazine-2-carbonyl)-*N*'-4-[4-(2,3-dihydroxypropoxy) phenyl]butyl-guanidine methanesulfonate (552-02), a novel epithelial sodium channel blocker with potential clinical efficacy for cystic fibrosis lung disease. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 2008;**325**(1):77-88.
- 63. Clunes MT, Boucher RC. Front-runners for pharmacotherapeutic correction of the airway ion transport defect in cystic fibrosis. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* 2008;8(3):292–9.